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FOR THE
PROPOSED RESTORATION 
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1.0 THE PROJECT
Baron Hill is one of the foremost Country Houses in Wales, seat of the Bulkeley and later the Williams Bulkeley Family for many centuries.

The current condition of the house, roofless and derelict, is a tragic loss to the historic architecture of the region and country.

This project seeks to restore the house, preserve what is left of the structure and ensure its survival for the future. The project will be enabled by the conversion of the interior to provide 43 apartments whilst restoring the exterior as far as possible. The exterior restoration will be done to the highest standards recreating features using appropriate traditional methods. The interiors, though modern will be of a size and ambience appropriate to the house.

Externally, the landscape which was such a feature of the setting of the original house will be restored and an important part of the whole project will be a formal agreement to allow public access to the  former arboretum. This, and the choice of access, will help to integrate the development with the town of Beaumaris and maximise the benefit to the wider community.

The ecological impact and possibilities are also of great importance with the opportunity to enhance valuable habitats.

This is perhaps the last opportunity to save and restore this important building and although the project is long, difficult and expensive it can be achieved with the continued co-operation of all parties.

2.0
INTRODUCTION

Willacy Horsewood Partnership

The Willacy Horsewood Partnership was formed in 1989.  The practice has extensive experience in restoration, conservation, housing and urban renewal projects and is presently involved in a number of prestigious developments on landmark sites throughout the north of England and in Wales.
The practice has worked on landmark and Listed Buildings including the Albert Dock development and The Old Chester Port working closely with Local Authority Conservation Departments and Statutory Bodies. The practice has recently completed the c1761 Grade II Listed Chester Royal Infirmary building restoration for Bryant Homes  and is presently working with Redrow on the conversion of the Grade II Listed Barnes Hospital in Cheadle, Manchester and at Newsham Hospital in Kensington, Liverpool. Other current projects include a 90,000 sq ft prestigious mixed-use development in the heart of Chester and a mixed-use office retail park in Cheshire. 

The Practice have also recently worked closely with the Design Commission for Wales and Cadw in producing a successful planning application for a £25 million residential and mixed scheme at the  Victoria Dock, Caernarfon, adjacent to the  World Heritage Site for Watkin Jones.
3.0
LOCATION
Baron Hill sits in an area of naturalised woodland within extensive grounds on a site which slopes in the direction of the Straits approximately 0.9Km to the west of the main town centre in Beaumaris.
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The site is bounded to the east by planned Parkland which rolls down the hill away from the site towards The Straits. Within the site the overgrown but still discernable arboretum runs gently down the hill towards the east.  The western boundary is woodland and open fields.  To the south runs the B 5109 Allt Goch Fawr to Pentraeth.  The north is bounded by a large area of woodland.
DESIGN / CONSEVATION STATEMENT

4.01 
HISTORIC  APPRAISAL
An excerpt from the listing gives an insight into the historical development of the building :-

Baron Hill was built in 1612 by Sir Richard Bulkeley (d1621), but was apparently never finished. It was intended to have a hall with short wings forming a U-shaped plan. A new house, enclosing within it the Jacobean house, was built in 1776-9 by Samuel Wyatt, architect of London, for the 7th Viscount Bulkeley (1752-1822). The house had a landscape park by William Emes and, with a view over Beaumaris Castle and the Menai Strait to the mountains of North Wales, was esteemed as having one of the finest views from any country house in Wales.
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View from the Parkland c.1900 showing the open aspect of the house
 Baron Hill was inherited by Lord Bulkeley’s nephew, Sir Richard Williams Bulkeley (1801 – 75), in 1822. Princess Victoria visited the house in 1832. Subsequently Henry Harrison, architect of London, was employed to alter the house, but work was interrupted by a fire in 1836 which necessitated further remodelling.
Harrison’s work was probably finished c1838, the date on rainwater heads. 
He lowered the main house from 3 to 2 storeys, added parapet balustrades and an entrance portico, raised the ground level on the E side of the house in order to build a terrace, and built the massive square service block with central courtyard.
Main Entrance 
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Courtyard Entrance c.1900
This new work was combined with a new entrance drive leading up from the S to the W side of the house. This arrangement is first shown on an estate plan of 1861. The house was remodelled again in the third quarter of the C19 by David Moore, who added Italianate detail. The house has been uninhabited since the 1920’s and its decline was accelerated when the troops were stationed there during the 1939-45 war. Overgrown and roofless by the early C21.

The listing continues describing the exterior :-
A ruined large Georgian Country house, mainly of rendered brick and entirely roofless. The 2-storey W entrance front has a 7-bay main range with 3 further bays advanced on the L and 4 bays advanced on the R. An entrance portico has 4 Tuscan columns on high bases, Doric entablature and balustrade. The lower storey is rusticated in the main range. In the upper storey the 3 central bays have round-headed windows and the outer bays architraves with pediments and balustrades. On the L side is a dated rainwater head of 1838. Much of the parapet balustrade has survived. The 3 bays at the L end have architraves to the upper storey windows and in the lower storey more elaborate architraves, the central with the segmental pediment. To the R, are 3 similar bays and a plainer 4th bay.
Cont - The 4-bay N front has windows in architraves. Between storeys, where the brickwork is exposed, are blind segmental-headed windows in the outer bays and blocked oculi to the centre, part of Wyatt’s original design.

The E garden front best preserves the spirit of Wyatt’s house, although reduced by a storey and with windows and doors opened to a terrace offering views over the park to the Beaumaris Castle and the mountains beyond. It has 3 advanced bays in the centre dominated by a central full height bow with parapet balustrade, a further bay set back on either side (effectively remodelled cross wings of the Jacobean house) and then lower polygonal outer bays. The lower storey is rusticated and the upper storey windows have architraves with pediments, as do the lower storey windows of the outer bays.
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Garden Front of the Wyatt house
On the SW side of the house is a massive 3-storey service block of rubble stone with brick dressings, nearly square in plan. On the W side it is formed of 2 broad pedimented bays, between which are gate piers leading to an inner courtyard. One the S side is the rainwater head dated 1838.
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Service Block

The interior of the house is gutted. At the N end are cast iron girders inserted in place of original beams. In the centre of the house is a 3-storey rubble-stone wall with mullioned window in the upper storey, the only visible architectural feature of the original Jacobean house.
Listed Status

Listed grade II*, notwithstanding its ruined condition, for its special architectural interest as an important C18 country house with C19 improvement that retains significant external character, and for its special historical interest as the ancestral home of the most important gentry family in Beaumaris.
Viewing platform and colonnade on the S side of Baron Hill

Location

On the S side of the house, immediately N of the bridge over the BS5109

History

Probably built in the early 1840’s when a main drive S of the house was created, and first shown on the estate plan of 1861. The steps provided access from the drive to the park to the E. Known locally as pulpit

Exterior

A freestone semi-circular colonnade with Tuscan columns and entablature. On the outer sides are doorways leading to stone steps, which join and continue upwards beneath a broad viewing platform. At the top of the steps are freestone parapets. The platform retains a freestone parapet to the sides but the balustrade around the front has been lost. Stone steps, the full width of the platform, lead up to the main drive.
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Side / Rear Elevation showing Balcony to Main Building
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Few historical photographs of the buildings exist but those that do provide a

Useful insight into the scale and quality of the building and its extensive landscaped grounds.
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4.02  
CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT


Willacy Horsewood together with Jeff St Paul from Watkin Jones have had numerous meetings with officers of Ynys Mon Council, particularly with Dave Jump, Conservation Officer..  
Meetings have been held in July and December 2007 with Peter Ashby, Conservation Architect Cadw to assess the condition and ongoing deterioration of the building fabric, and to discuss the proposals for restoration.  The meetings were very positive and formed the basis for the philosophy and methodology of the project.
Discussions have also been held with  Ynys Mon Highways Department to establish an access route which best serves the site in terms of both vehicles and pedestrians and which maximises links to Beaumaris.
The Council Arboriculturalist was consulted with reference general landscaping and the preservation and enhancement of the Arboretum  which along with the buildings had fallen from grace with the passage of time. The landscaping plan is shown separately. The approach taken is to identify zones of landscape where different approaches will be taken. These will vary from areas where the self seeded trees will be cleared in order to recreate views to areas where the garden plan will be recreated by the retention of major trees and additional planting. It is the intention to open the arboretum for public access whilst retaining private areas for the residents.

The important nature of the site from an ecological aspect together with the proximity of a Site of Special Scientific Interest has meant extensive discussions with the Countryside Council for Wales. A Protected Species survey has been prepared by Richards Moorhead and Laing and details mitigation which will result in improved and sustainable habitats for species whilst further discussions have focussed on how necessary incursion into the SSSI can be best handled and the important habitat for lichens enhanced.
4.03  
EXISTING BUILDING DETAILS

Baron Hill shows the progression and evolution of a building over a period of more than 200 years.  During that process a number of 

building styles have been used.  The clearance of some of the many self-sown trees around and inside the buildings has enabled a clearer picture to be formed of what remains of the original structure. It is now possible to record the state of the buildings and accelerating levels of decay which are undermining the integrity of the fabric of the building and which highlight the urgency for some remedial action to prevent further loss of major elements.

Main Building Front Entrance Facing West
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Main Building – View across the Front Elevation
This photograph records an area spanning the main entrance to the original building showing the Tuscan Columns and the area in front where many of the self-sown trees have been cleared.  A combination of vandalism, theft of roofing elements, invasive plant growth and weathering has undermined  the fabric of the building.  Render is cracking extensively and falling off, many areas of brickwork are crumbling and the structures are roofless..
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Stone balustrades and dentils courses have also decayed and have either fallen or are loose.  The building has no roof and the floors have all collapsed into the building envelope leading to the total destruction of the interior. 

Window aperture on Main Building showing mouldings around frame
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Side Elevation – Main Building

Some major details do remain relatively intact however which has enabled a set of drawings to be prepared which provide a record and a good basis for moving towards a reinvention of the built form.
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The mouldings around window openings appear from closer inspection be have been constructed using a concrete render - this would appear to have assisted with their longevity relative to some other parts of the building which have not faired so well against the elements.

Main Building – Part Rear Elevation.
Deep struck stucco render features along the rear of the Main Building .  The struck recesses are cut into the brick to allow for the depth of the joint.
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Photograph illustrating rusticated stucco finish to ground floor with smooth render finish to first floor with ornate mouldings around window apertures.
Balcony – South Elevation Main Building

The image clearly shows that the balcony was positioned to have a southerly aspect and extensive views over the garden and out towards the Arboretum.  Much of the balcony remains intact to this day but the entire elevation has extensive plant growth cover.
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3 Storey U- Shaped Service Block
View showing southern face of three storey service block.
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Opposite is view of two storey courtyard buildings
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Link between service block and courtyard buildings
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View showing ongoing decay of cornice / render generally
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View into inner courtyard of U-shaped service block.
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View of gable end facing west of part of the three storey service wing
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View showing one of the two storey annexes to service building
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Courtyard Buildings

The west facing buildings are in the best preserved condition although they too have no roofs.
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Most of the other buildings are decayed and have partly or fully collapsed
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4.04
Proposed Restoration and Redevelopment
The complex is essentially composed of three main elements namely the Main Building, the three storey u-shaped Service Block and the Outbuildings.

The advanced level of decay to the fabric of the buildings has been described in previous chapters. It was however decided as a principle that the proposals should be based on the premise of the restoration of the external envelope and the restoration of as many external features as possible to recreate the former external appearance and impact on its environment..
Due to the internal collapse the proposed redevelopment into 43 number apartments has made it necessary to remodel the internal walls particularly where they clash with windows. 
The first element of the restoration will be a careful clearance of the internal spaces of the buildings ensuring stability of the remaining structures. Photographic and measured recording will take place where appropriate during a systematic clearance under appropriate supervision. Storage of selected items may be arranged with disposal of other items.

The restoration of external features, repairs and stone cleaning are to be in strict accordance with method statements submitted to and approved by the Local Authority Conservation Department.
Main Building - Exterior
The main entrance with its Tuscan columns and Doric entablature and balustrades will be cleaned and repaired in accordance with an approved method statement provided to Conservation by the specialist stone mason.

The stone balcony to the south side will also be structurally overhauled and repaired using the same treatment.  High level parapet balustrades and copings are to be taken off, cleaned and repaired or replaced.

Structurally damaged or missing elements such as balustrades will be replaced like for like.  The existing rusticated stucco render to the ground floor elevations will be carefully hacked off and treated before applying a new approved render to an agreed sample panel. 
The feature architraves to the windows are to be copied and reinstated to match those of the original building.  The feature dentil course is to be stripped off and replaced.  Any damaged or structurally unsound brickwork is to be repaired or replaced like form like.
White painted timber sliding sash replacement windows are to be fitted to details.  Window patterns to be in accordance with approved elevations and window schedule.  Specialist window manufacturer to provide working details for approval before manufacture.
Main entrance doors and other feature doors are to be fitted in strict accordance with approved door schedule. Specialist door manufacturer to provide working details for approval before manufacture.
New roof structure to be provided to comply with current Building Regulations

and finished with natural Welsh Slate from an approved source with 

code 5 lead or equal approved parapet and valley gutters.

Existing dated rainwater heads to be carefully removed, cleaned off and reinstated. New rainwater heads to match existing in an approved material.

Chimneys – record photographs providing accurate details of size and position of existing chimneys are few and far between.  Based on records we have and taking into account the proposed future use of the building a rational approach has been taken with chimneys shown in major positions in keeping with the original building, as far as possible these will retain a practical function.
Main Building – Interior

The original house would have been composed of a number of grand rooms with a large entrance hall serving a large staircase.  Later alterations involved the addition of a smaller additional staircase across the main pair of windows to the left hand section near the main entrance.
The proposal is to reinstate the grand entrance hall and allow for a large volume space to recreate the feeling of space and serve as a common circulation space providing access to the apartments.  Given this the Apartment numbers have been kept to a low density to maintain the feeling of space and to preserve the integrity of large parts of the main structure. Thus individual apartments are of a generous size fitting the original structure.
Existing walls which clash with window openings have been removed, but walls have been retained wherever possible.
3 Storey Service Building - Exterior

Structurally damaged or missing elements to be replaced. All support to structural openings to be checked for stability. The existing render to the elevations will be carefully hacked off using hand held, non-power tools,  and treated before applying a new approved render to an agreed sample panel.

The feature architraves to the windows are to be copied and reinstated to match those of the original building.  The feature dentil course is to be stripped off and replaced.  Any damaged or structurally unsound brickwork is to be repaired or replaced.

White painted timber sliding sash replacement windows are to be fitted to match an approved sample.  Window patterns to be in accordance with approved elevations and window schedule.  Specialist window manufacturer to provide working details for approval before manufacture.

Feature doors are to be fitted in strict accordance with approved door schedule. Specialist door manufacturer to provide working details for approval before manufacture.

New roof structure to be provided to comply with current Building Regulations

and finished with natural Welsh Slate from an approved source with 

code 5 lead or equal approved parapet and valley gutters.

Existing dated rainwater heads to be carefully removed, cleaned off and reinstated. New rainwater heads to match existing in an approved material.

Chimneys – record photographs providing accurate details of size and position of existing chimneys are few and far between.  Based on records we have and taking into account the proposed future use of the building a rational approach has been taken with chimneys shown in major positions in keeping with the original building.

3 Storey Service Building – Interior

Existing walls which clash with window openings have been removed, but walls have been retained wherever possible.

Outbuildings – Exterior

Structurally damaged or missing elements to be replaced. All support to structural openings to be checked for stability. The existing render to the elevations will be carefully hacked off and treated before applying a new approved render to an agreed sample panel. Any damaged or structurally unsound stone or brickwork is to be repaired or replaced.

White painted timber sliding sash replacement windows are to be fitted to match an approved sample.  Window patterns to be in accordance with approved elevations and window schedule.  Specialist window manufacturer to provide working details for approval before manufacture.

Feature doors are to be fitted in strict accordance with approved door schedule. Specialist door manufacturer to provide working details for approval before manufacture.

New roof structure to be provided to comply with current Building Regulations

and finished with natural Welsh Slate from an approved source with 

code 5 lead or equal approved parapet and valley gutters.

New rainwater goods to be provided to match main house with dated hopper heads.

Outbuildings – Interior

Existing walls which clash with window openings have been removed, but walls have been retained wherever possible.

4.05
Landscaping
The overall methodology is to restore the landscaped areas befitting a grand house whilst accommodating necessary parking and allowing for public access to the restored arboretum.

Few details remain of the garden plan and arboretum, but there are some photographs which illustrate the grandeur and scale of the planting.
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The photograph above shows the view in a south easterly direction towards the fountain.  Some of the balustrade to the terrace remains in-tact sufficient
to replicate accurately. The fountain is to be retained and restored.
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The Ark Company from Hawarden have been appointed as Landscaping Architects and have prepared a full landscaping scheme as part of this application. Many of the original arboretum species remain but will require some pruning.  The site is presently visually blighted as a formal garden by many varieties of self sown trees and bushes which will be removed in order to re-expose the feature gardens. All works will be undertaken under the direction and with the agreement of Ynys Mon Council.
Some features of the original terrace remain in-tact 
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The existing belvedere / viewing gallery is in very good condition and is to be retained.  Access to this structure will be influenced by ecological considerations. Bats have been found using the structure  and mitigation will be taken into account in the structure’s future.
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The gardens will be opened up to the general public in accordance with a formal agreement with Ynys Mon County Council.
4.06
Access
The access to the development has been considered very carefully to take account of Highway advice and yet maximise the connectivity and benefit between Baron Hill and Beaumaris.

As the access is crucial, consideration of the possibilities has been extensive by many parties and it is worth briefly outlining the possibilities which have been considered and why the submitted access is the favoured one.

1.
East Lodge

One early consideration was use of the existing access via East Lodge. This was not favoured on Highway grounds due to the volume of traffic on the length of Henllys Lane. It will however be retained for emergency vehicles.

2.
Red Hill close to Ysgol Gynradd Beaumaris

An access was considered on the west side of Red Hill close to the junior school with the proposed road joining the former drive close to the lodge and crossing the bridge to approach the house.

This proposal had merits in that it was fairly direct and incorporates the restoration of both the lodge and the bridge. After much consideration it was discounted as highway visibility would be severely compromised.

3.
Red Hill close to Home Farm access
A scheme was prepared using a new access close to the existing access for Home Farm. This proved technically possible with incorporating the access to Home Farm, achieving the visibility splays onto Red Hill and proceeding down the steep slope to Baron Hill house.

There were a number of difficulties with this solution. It is remote from both the house and the town, would involve negotiating an extremely steep slope and would cause significant disruption to the woodland. 

4. Henllys Lane adjacent to the Junction with Wexham Street

Although traffic along the length of Henllys lane would cause problems a junction close to the town with access through the parkland can be achieved and has significant advantages for the scheme as a whole.
These advantages are summarised below.

1.
Historically it is clear that the Wyatt House and the Emes landscape plan incorporated an access through the parkland.

2.
The development is much more closely linked to the town.

3.
Public Pedestrian access into the arboretum can be more easily achieved and managed, the road forming a natural boundary between the public and private spaces.
4. 
Surface and foul water drainage can be incorporated into the roadway.

5. 
Much less disruption to the woodland will result as compared to an access from Red Hill.
6.
It is a less costly option improving the financial viability of a very complicated project.
It is therefore proposed that a new access road will be formed linking the site from Henllys Lane up along the side of the Parkland diverting near the top end into the site and meandering through the wooded lower part of the site before turning along the outer western face of the outbuildings. As this route passes through the SSSI the route and design has been carefully considered to minimise impact. The road will be single carriageway with passing places. The surface will be fixed to avoid dissipation of material onto the parkland and will be formed of chippings of an agreed colour rolled into a rein bonded material.
It is important to record that paintings of the house showing the Wyatt building at the end of the 18th Century clearly show a carriage drive through the parkland up to the house. This appears to be on a similar route to that chosen and shows that the landscape which Emes designed which is now designated SSSI was originally conceived with an access through it.

Public Pedestrian access from Henllys Lane will be allowed into the site with access to the arboretum at the Henllys Lane end. The drive from this point will be for the use of residents only and will form a natural boundary between the public and private areas of the grounds.
Parking for the outbuildings is to be provided alongside the access road with limited parking in the courtyard formed by the outbuildings allowing the retention of its open feel and adding to the amenity value for its occupants.
Further parking is to be provided discreetly in small clusters amongst the woodland above the main entrance to the Main Building as shown on the submitted plan. The overall intention is to provide for parking and recreate the open area around the house whilst preserving the essentially woodland fell in the surroundings. A pedestrian pathway will be provided to preserve the natural woodland feel and with further cutting back of self-sown trees allow for the reconstruction of the original open area in front of the main entrance.
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Provisions for Ambulant Access.
A stair providing vertical circulation within the entrance storey of the dwellings to satisfy Requirement M1.

The stairs will have clear widths of at least 900mm to internal and external stairs and have a surface which is firm and even.

Lift access to be provided to dwellings in the main house and the three storey service block.

Level threshold access to be provided to each dwelling.

Due to the sloping nature of the site a stepped approach is to be provided with goings a minimum of 280mm and risers a maximum of 150mm and a level platform of at least the width of the stair to be provided at each vertical rise of 1800mm.

An area of hardstanding with battered retaining will provide for a level platform the width of the approach excluding parking space for parked vehicles takes into account the needs of a wheelchair user, or a stick or crutch user.

The point of access to each dwelling should be relatively level and approach should not have crossfalls greater than 1 in 40.

Where the flight comprises three or more risers a suitable handrail should be provided with a grippable profile at 900mm above the line of pitch of the stairs and extend 300mm beyond the top and bottom nosings.


